

FLORE Repository istituzionale dell'Università degli Studi di Firenze

TOPICAL CORTICOSTEROIDS.WHICH DRUG AND WHEN?

Questa è la Versione finale referata (Post print/Accepted manuscript) della seguente pubblicazione:
Original Citation: TOPICAL CORTICOSTEROIDS.WHICH DRUG AND WHEN? / N. PIMPINELLI; B. GIANNOTTI In: DRUGS ISSN 0012-6667 STAMPA 44:(1992), pp. 65-71.
Availability: This version is available at: 2158/25453 since:
Terms of use: Open Access La pubblicazione è resa disponibile sotto le norme e i termini della licenza di deposito, secondo quanto stabilito dalla Policy per l'accesso aperto dell'Università degli Studi di Firenze (https://www.sba.unifi.it/upload/policy-oa-2016-1.pdf)
Publisher copyright claim:
(Article begins on next page)

Drugs 44 (1): 65-71, 1992 0012-6667/92/0007-0065/\$03.50/0 © Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Topical Corticosteroids Which Drug and When?

Benvenuto Giannotti and Nicola Pimpinelli Clinica Dermatologica II, University of Florence, Florence, Italy

Contents

65	Summary
66	1. General Recommendations
67	2. Specific Indications for Topical Corticosteroid Treatment
67	2.1 Topical Corticosteroids as the Treatment of Choice
67	2.1.1 Eczema
67	2.1.2 Lichen Planus
68	2.1.3 Lichen Simplex Chronicus (Circumscribed Chronic Dermatitis, Neurodermatitis)
- 68	2.1.4 Insect or Arthropod Bite Reactions
68 :	2.1.5 Burns and Sunburns
68	2.1.6 Keloids
68	2.2 Topical Corticosteroids as Useful Alternative and/or Adjuvant Treatment
68	2.2.1 Psoriasis
68	2.2.2 Seborrhocic Dermatitis
68	2.2.3 Diaper Dermatitis ('Nappy Rash')
69	2.2.4 Miscellaneous Disorders
69	2.3 Skin Diseases in which Topical Corticosteroids have to be Confirmed as Useful
70	2.4 Topical Corticosteroids as Symptomatic Treatment
70	3. Combination Preparations
70	4. Conclusions

Summary

A number of factors have to be taken into account when dealing with the treatment of skin diseases with topical corticosteroids, including disease type and phase, potency of the drug, safety, site to be treated, age of the patient, and drug formulation.

Concerning the specific indications for topical corticosteroid treatment, we can distinguish skin diseases in which: (a) topical corticosteroids are the treatment of choice; (b) topical corticosteroids are useful as alternative and/or adjuvant treatment; (c) the proposed use of topical corticosteroids has to be confirmed as useful; and (d) topical corticosteroids can be used as a symptomatic treatment. Within these groups, the treatment schedule has to be adjusted according to the abovementioned general factors.

When dealing with the treatment of skin diseases with topical corticosteroids, several parameters have to be taken into account. Generally speaking, the careful evaluation of at least the most important factors affecting treatment – disease type, site and severity; potency, safety and formulation of the drug (table I) [Miller & Munro 1980; Polano 1984]; and patient age – is the necessary prerequisite for appropriate, safe, and successful therapy (August 1989; Giannotti 1988; Pierard et al. 1989; Takeda et al. 1988; Uppal et al. 1991).

1. General Recommendations

A short and simple list of general guidelines for the topical treatment of skin diseases with corticosteroids can be given (Giannotti 1988):

- 1. Short term or intermittent use of potent corticosteroids, to reduce the risk of local and systemic side effects and to prevent tachyphylaxis (du Vivier 1976; Hradil et al. 1978; Katz et al. 1987a,b; Lubach et al. 1989; Takeda et al. 1988; Van der Harst et al. 1982).
- 2. Avoidance of sudden discontinuation of treatment, to prevent rebound phenomena. Upon improvement, the use of a less potent preparation, or the alternate use of topical corticosteroids and emollient preparations, is recommended until a complete resolution of the clinical lesions is achieved (Cullen 1989; Harper 1988; Takeda et al. 1988; Thiers 1989; Turpeinen 1991).
- 3. Use of low potency corticosteroids to treat children, large areas of the body, and anatomic sites especially susceptible of steroid damage (e.g. on the face, flexures, or scrotum). The application of higher potency drugs must be limited to areas resistant to treatment with mild preparations, possibly alternated with the latter.
- 4. Choice of the vehicle depending on the type and site of lesion (oil in water lotions and creams for acute and weeping lesions; lotions, creams or gels preferable for hairy areas and flexures; and ointments or water in oil creams for dry and chronic lesions).
 - 5. Performance of clinical and laboratory tests

Table I. Clinical potencies of topical conticosteroids (adapted from Miller & Munro 1980; Polano 1984)

Mild (class I)

Dexamethasone 0.01% Hydrocortisone (alcohol or scetate) 0.1-1% Methylprednisolone 0.25%

Moderately potent (class II)

Clobetasone butyrate 0.05%
Flumethasone pivalate 0.02%
Fluocinolone acetonide 0.01%
Fluocortin butylester 0.75%
Fluocortolone pivalate 0.2%
Fludroxycortide (flurandrenolone) 0.0125-0.025%
Hydrocortisone 1% with urea

Potent (class #II)

Beclomethasone dipropionate 0.025% Betamethasone benzoate 0.025% Betamethasone dipropionate 0.05% Betamethasone valerate 0.1% Busonide 0.025% Desonide 0.05% Desoximethasone 0.25% Difforasone diacetate 0.05% Diflucortolone valerate 0.1% Fluctorolone acetonide 0.025% Fluorinolone acetonide 0.025% Fluocinonide 0.06% Fluocortolone pivalate 0.5% Fluprednidene (fluprednylidene) acetate 0.1% Fludroxycortide (flurandrenolone) 0.05% Halcinonide 0.1% Hydrocortisone butyrate 0.1% Triamcinolone acetonide 0.1%

Very potent (class IV)

Beclomethasone dipropionate 0.5% Clobetasol propionate 0.05% Diflucontolone valerate 0.3% Fluocinolone acetonide 0.2% Ulobetasol (halobetasol) 0.05% Mometasone furgate 0.1% Prednicarbate

if the drug is used for long periods and/or on large areas of the body.

Several preparations of corticosteroids are also available for intralesional injection. Triamcinolone acetonide (or diacetate) or methylprednisolone, diluted in carbocaine 1% and distilled water, can be used in specific circumstances (Verbov 1976). As a general rule, the quantity of solution to be in-

jected is scheduled according to the size and thickness of the lesion; it is absolutely useless, in fact, to inject more solution than that can be immediately adsorbed by the tissue.

2. Specific Indications for Topical Corticosteroid Treatment

In order to make clear the practical guidelines for the treatment of specific skin conditions with topical corticosteroids, we will consider 4 main groups of diseases: (a) those in which topical corticosteroids are the treatment of choice; (b) those in which topical corticosteroids are useful as alternative and/or adjuvant treatment; (c) those in which the proposed use of topical corticosteroids has to be confirmed as useful; and, (d) those in which topical corticosteroids can be used as symptomatic treatment (in addition to specific therapy).

2.1 Topical Corticosteroids as the Treatment of Choice

2.1.1 Eczema

Contact Dermatitis

In allergic contact dermatitis, moderately potent (class II) topical corticosteroids are usually sufficient to control the clinical evolution of the disease, along with the avoidance of the contact allergen. In selected cases of chronic lichenified lesions, a class III or IV topical corticosteroid may be required. In any case, it is wise to avoid a sudden discontinuation of the treatment (Ortonne 1988; Vilgioglia et al. 1990). The possibility that topical corticosteroids, especially hydrocortisone, induce allergic sensitisation must not be forgotten when dealing with chronic forms becoming resistant to topical treatment (Wilkinson et al. 1991).

In irritant contact dermatitis, the treatment with class I or II topical corticosteroids is generally effective (Ortonne 1988). Recent studies, however, raise doubts regarding the superiority of topical corticosteroids versus emollient creams and ointments in controlling the basic feature of skin irri-

tation, i.e. dryness due to increased water loss (Van der Valk & Maibach 1989).

Atopic Dermatitis

The weakest topical corticosteroids are recommended in this condition, due to the simple consideration that this is a chronic disease and most patients are children. Class II to IV topical corticosteroids may be required for the treatment of acute exacerbations or severely lichenified lesions, accompanied by oral antihistamines and corticosteroids when necessary. In this case, rapid replacement with decreasingly potent topical corticosteroids, until complete discontinuation, is recommended (Harper 1988; Ortonne 1988; Thiers 1989; Vilgioglia et al. 1990). In any case, the removal of exacerbating agents and modifying behaviour to avoid situations that may cause irritation are of substantial help in the treatment of atopic dermatitis (Noren & Melin 1989). The continuous use of nonirritant detergents and emollient creams and ointments must be recommended, and is of primary importance in the correct management of the disease. In particular, a greasy vehicle and alternate use of topical corticosteroids with emollients in dry skin and chronic lesions is preferable.

Other Types of Eczema

In nummular eczema, the use of mild to moderate topical corticosteroids – gradually discontinued – is recommended. In stasis eczema, mild to moderate topical corticosteroids are indicated as well. The proper pharmacological and nonpharmacological treatment of vascular disturbances (i.e. venous insufficiency of the lower limbs) is however of primary importance in the prophylaxis of this type of disorder. Combination preparations of weak topical corticosteroids and urea are very effective in asteatotic eczema

2.1.2 Lichen Planus

In cases with localised lesions, topical corticosteroids may be sufficient. Potent or very potent topical corticosteroids, possibly under plastic occlusion, or in selected cases intralesional corticosteroids (triamcinolone acetonide 5 to 10 mg/ml), may be useful in the treatment of hypertrophic lesions or in lesions involving the nails, and may obviate the need for systemic steroids. In oral lesions, triamcinolone acetonide 0.1% in carmellose ('Orabase') may be very helpful.

2.1.3 Lichen Simplex Chronicus (Circumscribed Chronic Dermatitis, Neurodermatitis)

In this common disorder, short term courses of class III or IV topical corticosteroids, or intralesional triamcinolone acetonide 5 to 10 mg/ml in severely lichenified lesions, are generally highly effective.

2.1.4 Insect and Arthropod Bite Reactions

Moderately potent topical corticosteroids are generally effective in common insect bites, preferably in association with oral antihistamines and, in severe reactions, systemic corticosteroids. Due to possible microbial superinfections, particularly in bullous lesions, concomitant antibiotics may be required in selected cases. In persistent, isolated papulonodular reactions, intralesional triamcinolone acetonide 5 to 10 mg/ml may be very effective.

2.1.5 Burns and Sunhurns

In first and second degree localised burns, as well as in mild to severe sunburns, class II topical corticosteroids are effective in relieving pain and reducing inflammation. In second degree lesions, the association with antibiotics is advisable, due to the frequent occurrence of microbial superinfections as a result of epidermal damage.

2.1.6 Keloids

Intralesional triamcinolone acetonide 10 to 40 mg/ml is the treatment of choice in keloids, and in hypertrophic scars which do not resolve spontaneously. Unsatisfactory results are often obtained when these lesions are treated in advanced stages.

2.2 Topical Corticosteroids as Useful Alternative and/or Adjuvant Treatment

2.2.1 Psoriasis

This is the most common dermatosis in which topical corticosteroids are one of the possible treatments, along with dithranol, photochemotherapy, oral retinoids, and more recently oral cyclosporin.

Topical corticosteroids are definitely useful in most patients with localised involvement. The weaker preparations are rarely effective; class III or IV topical corticosteroids, possibly under plastic occlusion or even occlusive dressings (David & Lowe 1989; Juhlin 1989), are generally very useful (Katz et al. 1987a, 1989; Trozac 1990; Watson et al. 1990). Continuous topical corticosteroid treatment should be avoided, in order to prevent rapid tachyphylaxis and local side effects; thus, intermittent use is recommended (Hradil et al. 1978; Katz et al. 1987b; Van der Harst et al. 1982), using a topical corticosteroid every other day, twice weekly, or on 2 consecutive days followed by a 3 day break.

Intralesional treatment with triamcinolone acetonide 5 to 10 mg/ml is indicated for isolated, chronic lesions.

2.2.2 Seborrhoeic Dermatitis

The use of topical corticosteroids should be limited to short, intermittent courses of class I or II preparations in patients with this condition, especially in extensive and acute lesions, to avoid dangerous local side effects on the face, the most frequently affected area. Local application of imidazole antifungals (e.g. econazole, clotrimazole, miconazole, bifemazole, isoconazole and ketoconazole) have a high therapeutic potential in seborthoeic dermatitis (Katsambas et al. 1989), and the relevant aetiological role of the yeast *Pityrosporum ovale* may account for this clinical evidence. Therefore, a combined or alternate treatment should also be considered.

2.2.3 Diaper Dermatitis ('Nappy Rash')

The treatment of this disorder, very frequent in children, is principally based on the application of a 'barrier cream' (e.g. zinc oxide-containing prep-

Topical Corticosteroids 69

arations) after every nappy change. In severe cases, weak topical corticosteroids are helpful; the addition of antifungal drugs or antibiotics is required when *Candida albicans* or bacterial infection coexists. The use of potent fluorinated topical corticosteroids is contraindicated (Harper 1988).

2.2.4 Miscellaneous Disorders

The treatment of *disidrosis* (pompholyx) is mainly based on the use of potassium permanganate soaks and moderately potent topical corticosteroids, possibly accompanied by oral corticosteroids and antihistamines in severe cases.

In *nodular prurigo*, short term courses of class III or IV topical corticosteroids, or intralesional triamcinolone acetonide 5 to 10 mg/ml, are generally highly effective.

Potent topical corticosteroids, under plastic occlusion, are effective in the treatment of *chronic discoid lupus erythematosus*, but the common involvement of the face definitely limits their long term use. In resistant cases, intralesional injections can be used, especially in mildly atrophic lesions (Callen 1990).

Granuloma annulare and necrohiosis lipoidica: topical treatment with corticosteroids, mainly triamcinolone acetonide 5 to 10 mg/ml injected intradermally, may be effective, but local side effects, such as severe dermal atrophy and/or sclerosis, have to be warranted.

Treatment with class II or III topical corticosteroids may definitely be helpful in *alopecia areata*, particularly in the early phases. Intralesional triamcinolone 5 mg/ml injections are indicated for the treatment of small areas.

Lymphocytic infiltration of the skin (Jessner-Kanof) responds well to class II topical corticosteroids, again with the limitation of short term use for lesions on the face.

The most widely known type of cutaneous lymphoma, *mycosis fungoides*, may also be satisfactorily controlled by class III topical corticosteroids in its early patch stage in patients with a limited number of lesions.

In acne, nonmicrobial inflamed cysts may be

successfully treated with intralesional triamcinolone 2.5 mg/ml.

Topical corticosteroids can be useful in aphthous stomatitis, especially if applied in the early phases. Triamcinolone 0.1% in carmellose, possibly associated with oxyquinoline sulfate 0.1%, should be applied at least 4 times a day. The treatment has usually to be accompanied by an oral tetracycline, a topical anaesthetic [e.g. lidocaine (lignocaine) gel 2%], and systemic corticosteroids in severe cases.

Among bullous diseases, familial benign pemphigus of Hailey-Hailey can be satisfactorily treated with topical corticosteroids, alternated, or associated, with appropriate antimicrobial agents.

2.3 Skin Diseases in which Topical Corticosteroids have to be Confirmed as Useful

Bullous pemphigoid may be controlled in selected cases by potent topical corticosteroids (Westerhof 1989), thus allowing a useful saving of systemic steroid treatment. Moreover, topical corticosteroids may be useful as adjuvant treatment when single new lesions appear during the gradual dose reduction of oral corticosteroids.

The use of potent topical corticosteroids for the treatment of cutaneous mastocytosis has been proposed (Guzzo et al. 1991; Lavker et al. 1987), but the possibility of severe dermal atrophy has to be seriously taken into account. Even in pyoderma gangrenosum, combination treatment with potent topical corticosteroids and oral tetracyclines has been quite recently proposed in selected cases (Reynolds & Peachey 1990).

The treatment of lichen sclerosus et atrophicus with class IV topical corticosteroids is now proposed as definitely more effective in comparison with the classically used testosterone 2% ointments; a twice daily application seems to be the preferred schedule (Dalziel et al. 1989).

Finally, topical corticosteroids have been shown to promote the repigmentation in localised *vitiligo* (Liu et al. 1990).

2.4 Topical Corticosteroids as Symptomatic Treatment

Dermatophyte and yeast infections of the skin, when characterised by severe inflammation, heal faster and better with topical corticosteroids added to the specific treatment (mainly local imidazoles), without any compromise of long term efficacy. Indeed, Candida infections of the flexures may not clear at all with the use of a suitable antifungal preparation alone (August 1989). Patients must, however, be advised to limit the use of topical corticosteroids to the first days of treatment. The immediate efficacy of topical corticosteroids in reducing inflammation may generate the erroneous idea that this is the 'right treatment', and lead to inappropriately long term use. For this reason, it is sometimes wise to give short term systemic treatment with low dose corticosteroids instead of a topical combination treatment.

3. Combination Preparations

A relatively large number of preparations in which corticosteroids are combined with antimicrobial agents are currently available. This type of formulation is definitely more popular among general practitioners than among dermatologists, thus generating the suspicion that they are generally used when a precise diagnosis is lacking. This use, which is obviously questionable, should not however result in an indiscriminate lack of use of these preparations. Several dermatoses may be well suited to treatment with such a combination. In a clinical trial comparing the use of isoconazole 1% alone versus the same drug combined with diflucortolone 0.1% in dermatophyte and Candida infections, the latter preparation was found to be significantly more effective than the former, with regard not only to regression of signs and symptoms, but also to mycological cure rate. This clinical effect is presumably due to the greater bioavailability of the antifungal agent in the epidermis, due to the local vasoconstrictive activity of the corticosteroid, which allows a less rapid 'wash out' of

the antifungal drug by the dermal microcirculation (reviewed in Hoppe 1988).

The literature contains conflicting reports regarding the effectiveness of corticosteroid-antibiotic combinations in secondary infected dermatoses, such as impetiginised atopic and contact dermatitis. Some authors failed to find a difference between corticosteroids used alone or in combination with antibiotics (mainly neomycin), while others found more clinical benefit by using combination preparations (reviewed in Giannotti 1988).

Combinations of topical corticosteroids with other substances are also available: urea, helpful in patients with xerotic skin for its moisturising effect; coal tar, in psoriasis, chronic eczema, and atopic dermatitis; and saticylic acid, indicated in cases with coexistent hyperkeratosis.

4. Conclusions

Topical corticosteroids are likely to remain a very effective, and indeed the only sensible, treatment of many skin disorders. Thus, an increasingly more suitable balance among efficacy, safety (local and systemic), and treatment compliance is the real goal of pharmacological research in the field of topical corticosteroids. High lipophilicity (with consequent quick penetration), and bioactivation in the skin (with consequent generation of more active metabolites, thus allowing once-daily application) are basic features in this respect, as exemplified by methylprednisolone aceponate (Topert 1988).

References

- August PJ. The choice of topical steroids A personal view. Acta Dermato-Venereologica 69 (Suppl, 151): 31-36, 1989
- Callen JP. Treatment of cutaneous lesions in patients with lupus erythematosus. Dematologic Clinics 8: 355-365, 1990
- Cullen SI, Effective topical dermatologic therapy. Dermatologic Clinics 7: 37-42, 1989
- Dalziel K. Millard P. Woinarowska FT Lichen sclerosus et atrophicus treated with a potent topical steroid (clobetasol dipropionate 0.05%). British Journal of Dermatology 121 (Suppl. 34): 34-35, 1989
- David M, Lowe NJ. Psoriasis therapy: comparative studies with hydrocolloid dressing, plastic film occlusion, and triamcinolone acetonide cream. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology 21: 511-514, 1989
- du Vivier A. Tachyphylaxis to topically applied steroids. Archives of Dermatology 112: 1245-1248, 1976

- Giannotti B, Current treatment guidelines for topical corticosteroids. Drugs 36 (Suppl. 5): 9-14, 1988
- Guzzo C, Lavker RM, Roberts LJ, Fox K, Schechter N, et al. Urticaria pigmentosa: systemic evaluation and successful treatment with topical steroids. Archives of Dermatology 127: 191-196, 1991
- Harper J. Topical corticosteroids for skin disorders in infants and children. Drugs 36 (Suppl. 5): 34-37. 1988
- Hoppe G. Diffucortolone valerate: Asian experience, Drugs 36 (Suppl. 5): 24-33, 1988
- Hradii E. Lindstrom C. Moller H. Intermittent treatment of psoriasis with clobetasol propionate. Acta Dermato-Venereologica 58: 375-377, 1978
- Juhlin L. Treatment of psoriasis and other dermatoses with a single application of a corticosteroid left under a hydrocolloid occlusive dressing for one week. Acta Dermato-Venereulogica 69: 355-357, 1989
- Katsambas A, Antoniou G, Frangouli E, Augerinou G, Michailidis D, et al. A double-blind trial of treatment of seborrheic dermatitis with 2% ketoconazole cream compared with 1% hydrocortisone cream. British Journal of Dermatology 121: 353-357, 1989
- Katz HI, Hien NT. Prawer SE, Mastbaum LI, Monney JJ, et al. Superpotent topical steroid treatment of psoriasis vulgaris: clinical efficacy and adrenal function. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology 16: 804-811. 1987a
 Katz HI, Hien NT, Prawer SE, Scott JC. Grivna EM, Betame-
- Katz HI, Hien NT, Prawer SE, Scott JC, Grivna EM, Betamethasone dipropionate in optimized vehicle, Intermittent pulse dosing for extended maintenance treatment of psoriasis. Archives of Dermatology 123: 1308-1311, 1987b
- Katz HI, Prawer SE, Watson MJ, Scull TA, Peets EA, Mometasone furnate ointment 0.1% vs hydrocortisone ointment 1.0% in psoriasis: atrophogenic potential. International Journal of Dermatology 28: 342-344, 1989
- Lavker RM, Schechter NM, Guzzo C, Lazarus GS. Aggressive topical corticosteroid therapy: a novel approach to mast celldependent cutaneous disorders. Dermatologica 175: 213-216, 1987
- Liu XG, Shao CG, Jin PY, Wang HQ, Ye GY, et al. Treatment of localized vitiligo with ulobetasol cream. International Journal of Dermatology 29: 295-297, 1990
- Lubach D, Bensmann A, Bornemann U, Steroid-induced dermal atrophy: investigation on discontinuous application. Dermatologica 179: 67-72, 1989
- Miller JA, Munro DD. Topical corticosteroids: clinical pharmacology and therapeutic use. Drugs 19: 119-134, 1980
- Noren P. Melin L. The effect of combined topical steroids and habit-reversal treatment in patients with atopic dermatitis. British Journal of Dermatology 121: 359-366, 1989

- Ortonne JP, Clinical potential of topical corticosteroids, Drugs 36 (Suppl. 5): 38-42, 1988
- Pierard GE, Pierard-Franchimont C, Ben Musbah T, Arrese Estrada J. Adverse effects of topical corticosteroids. Acta Dermato-Venereologica 69 (Suppl. 151): 26-30, 1989
- Polano MK, Corticosteroids for topical use in topical skin therapeutics. Churchill Livingstone, New York, 1984
- Reynolds NJ, Peachey RD. Response of atypical bullous pyoderma gangrenosum to oral minocycline hydrochloride and topical steroids. Acta Dermato-Venereologica 70: 538-539, 1990
- Takeda K. Arase S. Takahashi S. Side effects of topical corticosteroids and their prevention. Drugs 36 (Suppl. 5): 15-23, 1988
 Thiers BH. Topical steroid therapy of atopic skin diseases. Allergy Proceedings 10: 413-416, 1989
- Topen M. Perspectives in corticosteroid research. Drugs 36 (Suppl. 5): 1-8, 1988
- Trozac DJ. Topical corticosteroid therapy in psoriasis. Cutis 46: 341-350, 1990
- Turpemen M. Absorption of hydrocortisone from the skin reservoir in atopic dermatitis. British Journal of Dermatology 124: 358-360, 1991
- Uppal R, Sharma SC, Bhowmik SR, Sharma PL, Kaur S, Topical corticosteroid usage in dermatology. International Journal of Pharmacologic Therapy and Toxicology 29: 48-50, 1991
- Van der Harst LCA, de Jonge H. Pot F. Polano MK. Comparison of two application schedules for clubetasol-17-propionate. Acta Dermato-Venereologica 62: 270-273, 1982
- Van der Valk PG. Maihach HI. Do topical corticosteroids modulate skin irritation in human beings? Assessment by transepidermal water loss and visual scoring. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology 21: 519-522, 1989
- Verbov J. The place of intralesional steroid therapy in dermatology. British Journal of Dermatology 94 (Suppl. 12): 51-58, 1976.
- Vilgioglia P, Jones MI., Peets FA. Once-daily 0.1% mometasone furoate cream versus twice-daily 0.1% betamethasone valerate in the treatment of a variety of dermatoses. Journal of International Medical Research 18: 460-467, 1990
- Watson WA, Kalb RE, Siskin SB, Free JP, Krochmal L. The safety of halobelasol 0.05% outment in the treatment of psoriasis. Pharmacotherapy 10: 107-111, 1990
- Westerhof W. Treatment of bullous pemphigoid with topical clobetasol propionate. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology 20: 458-461, 1989
- Dermatology 20: 458-461, 1989
 Wilkinson SM, Cartwright PH, English JS, Hydrocortisone: an important cutaneous allergen. Lancet 337: 761-762, 1991

Correspondence and reprints: Prof. B. Giannotti, Directore, Clinica Dermosifilopatica II, Univesità Degli Studi di Firenze, Via della Pergola 58, I-50121 Firenze, Italy